IBM FileNet Business Process Framework

Version 4.0





eForms Integration to BPF

IBM FileNet Business Process Framework

Version 4.0





eForms Integration to BPF

Note

Before using this information and the product it supports, read the information in "Notices" on page 59.

This edition applies to version 4.0 of IBM FileNet Business Process Framework (product number 5724-R75) and to all subsequent releases and modifications until otherwise indicated in new editions.

© Copyright International Business Machines Corporation 2006, 2007. All rights reserved.

US Government Users Restricted Rights – Use, duplication or disclosure restricted by GSA ADP Schedule Contract with IBM Corp.

# Contents

Revision Log	6
Overview	7
The eForms Tab	
How to Configure the eForms Tab	
Presentation of the eForms Tab	
No eForm Attached to Case	
The eForms Tab as a Replacement for the Case Tab	11
Synchronization of the eForm with Case Data	12
Using an eForm Tab	
Editing an eForm	13
Saving an eForm	13
Closing an eForm	13
Action	14
BPF Search with eForms	14
eForm Case Creation Tool	
Overview of the eForm Case Creation Tool	15
Access Methods for the eForm Case Creation Tool	
Using the eForm Case Creation Tool	16
Configuring the Access Method of the eForm Case Creation Tool	17
Dropdown Option	
Application Menu Item	18
Inbasket Menu Item	
Configuring the eForm Case Creation Tool	20
Configuration files for eForms	
Add the Form Template to P8 Workplace	20
Add Entry Template	25
Add a Form Policy	
Process Engine Changes for eForms Integration	46
Transfer New Workflow Definition to Process Engine	
Content Engine Changes for eForms Integration	50
Bp8PrimaryForm	
Form Document Class and Properties	50
Create a Content Engine Workflow Subscription	51
Modifying Form Template	56
Updating Form Template P8 Workplace	56
Updating Form Policy in P8 Workplace	56
Updating BPF Application	56
Summary of BPF/eForms Configuration	
Notices	
Trademarks	60

# **Revision Log**

Date	Revision
Nov 2007	Made various changes throughout document to meet IBM requirements.
Mar 2007	Initial document for 4.0 release.
Nov 2007	Made various changes throughout document to meet IBM requirements.

## Overview

**NOTE** This document has not been updated for any new or changed functionality in BPF version 4.1.0. For information on new and changed functionality, see the *IBM FileNet Business Process Framework New Feature Addendum*.

This document focuses on the integration of IBM<sup>®</sup> FileNet<sup>®</sup> Business Process Framework (BPF) with FileNet eForms. It covers the following areas:

- The eForms Tab
  - How to configure and deploy the BPF eForms Tab for displaying eForms in a tab within an open Case in the BPF Web Application.
  - o Using the eForm in the eForms Tab at runtime in the BPF Web Application.
- Searching BPF eForms Cases
  - Configuration changes required for the BPF CASEQUERY Inbasket to handle the opening of eForms Cases from the Search Results screen.
- The eForm Case Creation Tool
  - How to deploy and configure the BPF Form Template Case Creation Tool that is used for creating a new eForm and launching a Workflow that will create a new Case for it.

This document is intended for BPF application designers and developers who will be required to configure eForms Integration within BPF. It presumes that the reader understands and is experienced with BPF Explorer configuration, Content Engine configuration, the Process Designer tool, Workplace configuration, and eForm creation and design.

## The eForms Tab

## How to Configure the eForms Tab

In order to expose the eForms Tab structure to the BPF Explorer application, it first needs to be added to the BPF Meta database. For the Case Management sample application, this will occur automatically when the **bpf\_cm.xml** manifest is imported using BPF Explorer during the installation process. For other scenarios, this can be done manually by modifying the TABS table in the BPF Metastore and adding the following new record. When upgrading from BPF 3.5.2 to BPF 4.0 and adding eForm Integration, you must manually add the eForm Tab to the TABS table.

Column	Description
TAB_ID	Incrementing number supplied by the RDBMS when a row is added to the TABS table.
TAB_NAME	eForms (The Display Name of the tab in the BPF Explorer Tool)
TOOL_TIP	eForms (Display Name of the tab in the BPF Inbasket User Interface)
HELP_CTX	Not currently used.
TAB_CONTENT	/BpfFormServlet?Bp8CaseID={CFNAME}&mode=1 (or mode=2)&page=1
	Bp8CaseID = The macro {CFNAME} returns the value of the specified case field. In this instance, it would return the current case ID value.

Use the following column values to create the eForms Tab entry.

Column	Description
	<ul> <li>Mode = Indicates the form mode.</li> <li>1 = This will open the eForm in editable mode to allow updates. This mode will be used for Cases that are in process.</li> <li>2 = This will open the eForm in a read-only mode. This mode will be used in the CaseQuery Inbasket. A read-only view will be provided by passing the PERMISSION_STATE value of the eForm API while fetching the eForm from Content Engine (CE).</li> </ul>
	Page = This indicates the particular eForm page (tab) to be opened. If the page number specified does not exist in the eForm, then the first eForm tab will be opened by default.
TAB_TYPE	2 (Numeric Value indicating eForm type of tab)

The BPF eForms Servlet will then fetch the eForm object from Content Engine (CE) based on the GUID value in Bp8PrimaryForm field of the Case object currently open in the BPF Web Application as soon as the eForms Tab is displayed.

Eile	e <u>W</u> indov	w <u>H</u> elp					
ß	7 <u>5</u> E	<u>1 sol 🖂 🗗</u>	! ! 🗟 💖	AL AL X	[t= *_		
ì	Data in T	able 'TABS' in	'Bp8Metasto	·e' on '(local)			-0>
	TAB_ID	TAB_NAME	TOOL_TIP	HELP_CTX	TAB_CONTENT	TAB_TYPE	
	1	Case	Case	<null></null>	CaseProps	0	
IJ	2	Audit	Audit	<null></null>	Audit	0	
ĺ	3	Attachment	Attachment	<null></null>	Bp8AttachmentsTab.jsp?eventTarget=attachmentsTab&eventName=ExecuteSea	1	
1	5	Table	Table	<null></null>	TableTab.jsp?layout=TableTabSample&TabName={TABNAME}&Inbasket={IID}&	1	
>	6	eForms	eForms	<null></null>	/BpfFormServlet?Bp8CaseID={CFNAME}&mode=1&_showatt=0&page=P001	2	
*							

Once the configuration described above is complete, all that remains is to add the eForms Tab to those Inbaskets where it is required (as seen in the following screenshot) using BPF Explorer.

eneral   Roles   Responses   B	, , , ,		
Tabs Available	Selected	1 Hide	
Case Audit Attachment	a second s	achment xms	
Table eForms			
	AL>		
	<-		
	(-Al		
	Down		
	Last		
1			

As will be explained further below, the "Hide" parameter seen here is provided for the purpose of allowing the Case Tab to be present, in a given Inbasket, for updates and synchronization with one or more eForms tabs - but without actually being visible to the user. This is the typical use case envisioned for the eForms Tab, whereby an eForm actually takes the place of the traditional Case Tab in terms of displaying the Case fields that a user needs to work with in a given Inbasket.

**NOTE** The eForm tab on the Case Management sample application (as configured by importing the bpf\_cm.xml manifest using BPF Explorer) will, by default, not be exposed on any Inbasket. Users will have to expose this tab on the Inbasket in order to see and use eForms functionality within the Case Management sample application.

The following describes the way in which BPF eForms synchronization is performed. When you change the value of an eForm form field that is displayed in the eForms Tab in BPF, the corresponding BPF Case field (on the Case Tab - hidden or not) is not updated until you have closed and reopened the Case from its current Inbasket or dispatched the Case by selecting an Action. Synchronization of values occurs at this point solely by virtue of both fields having the exact same name. Identity of names is the only thing that determines the correspondence between eForm form fields and BPF Case fields. The requirements for successful update and synchronization of the Case Tab are:

- that the Case Tab be present (hidden or not)
- that it expose those fields necessary for the user to perform his or her function in this Inbasket, and
- that the eForm(s) involved contain form fields whose names match *exactly* those of the Case fields involved.

## Presentation of the eForms Tab

The end result of the configuration steps described above should be that the user will be able to view an eForm associated with the current Case in the eForms Tab as shown below:

🐔 Case Management - Microsoft Inf	erne <mark>t Explore</mark> r								_ 7 🔀
Attach Document Add Document Que	ue Depth				Save Close	Action Mode: Browse	Edit Layout Creat	e Case   Search   Prefe	rences Sign Out
🗲 FILENET	eForm	ns	Attachments		Audit			- M 202	
	New EForm Case Pag	e 7 Page 3 Page 4							N (1+ ) N
Priority All M	New of onlinedae 17 bg	e z [[roge s [[roge r]]							
Account Number									
Company Name	Priority: Account No:	101							
Company Name									
Received Date	Effective Date:	11/1/06							
Case ID	Received Date:	11/1/08							
	Contract Amount:	101.00							
Inbaskets	Company Name:	IBM							
Index (7) Matching (0)	DocEntryStatus:	o 🗸							
My Work (2)									
Review (0)									
Administrator	Role: Supervisor	~					Account	Number: 101	
🦺 start 🌒 🔁 🙆 🔍 🏹 🧐	💽 🔤 🎽 Address	3					🛩 🛃 Go	98%	11:58 AM
Windows Ta	P8 3.6.0 Pla	2 Windows (	Server - bpf	36:50 - AT&	Brian Roots	A Internet	eForms Inte	90% I C	Wednesday

### No eForm Attached to Case

If there is not an eForm attached to the current Case, the end user will see a "No eForm attached to this Case" message in the eForms Tab in the Web Application.

eForm documents in this context are *not* literally "attached to" the Case in the manner of traditional BPF attachments but rather *associated with* the Case through the following mechanism. BPF will search for an eForm associated with this case based on the value populated in the Bp8PrimaryForm field in the workflow map. This Bp8PrimaryForm field will contain the vsld of the eForm object version to be loaded in the tab. BPF will find the Id of the corresponding Content Engine Document object based on this vsld value and, if the document is found, BPF will open the eForm. Otherwise, BPF will display a message reading, "No eForms attached to this Case." as shown in the example below.

ch Document Add Document C	Jueue Depth				Save Close	Action M	1ode: Browse	Edit Layout	Create Case	Search Pref	erences Sign
FILENET	eForr	ns	Attachmen	its	Audit	Increase and increase					
	No eForm attached to t	his Case									
rity											
rity											
ount Number											
ipany Name											
eived Date											
= 1D											
ikets											
ex (7)											
ching (0)	100										
Work (2) iew (0)											
	Role: Supervisor	~						,	Account Numb	er: 55	
inistrator	Notes Copervisor	191001									
ninistrator Start 🔰 🖗 🧶 🖓	(a) (a) (a) (b) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c							~	Go		11:59 11:59 1.59 1.59 1.59

### The eForms Tab as a Replacement for the Case Tab

The new eForms Tab can serve as a replacement for the traditional Case Tab. In this scenario, the Case Tab will typically be hidden using the "Hide" tab option on the Tabs tab in the Inbasket Configuration properties dialog in BPF Explorer. The eForms Tab will be configured as the first tab in place of the Case Tab. The Case Tab will still be available for any operation from BPF and to any custom plug-in code, but will not be visible within the BPF Web Application.

**NOTE** Synchronization does not work if the Case tab is not configured on the Tabs tab for this Inbasket (whether it is hidden or not).

🕙 Case Management - Microsoft	Internet Explorer											- 0 X
Attach Document Add Document	Queue Depth				Save Close	Action	Mode: Browse	EditLayout	Create Case	Search	Preferences	Sign Out
🗲 FILENET	eFor ⊋]	ms	Attachme	nts	Audit					***		
Priority All M	New EForm Case Pa	ge 2 Page 3 Page	4									M (+>)
All M Account Number												
Company Name	Priority: Account No:	101										
Received Date	Effective Date:	11/1/08										
Case ID	Received Date:	11/1/08										
	Contract Amount:	101.00	<i>4</i>									
Inbaskets Index (7)	Company Name: DocEntryStatus:	IBM										
Matching (0) My Work (2)												
Review (0)												
Administrator	Role: Supervisor	~						A	ccount Numbe	er: 101		
🤧 start 🌒 🔞 🧶 🖓	😔 💽 🏧 🎽 Addre	35						~	→ Go			11:58 AM
	8 3.6.0 Pla	2 Windows	- Server - bpf	🕲 36:50 - AT&	Brian Root	s 🧕	Internet	eForms I	inte	8%		Wednesday 11/22/2006

## Synchronization of the eForm with Case Data

BPF Case field data (normally presented on the Case Tab) will be synchronized with eForm data based on the identity of the eForm form field name and BPF Case field name.

Synchronization Rules:

- If there are multiple tabs with the same field name on an eForm, then whichever form field is read last by the synchronization code will be the form field whose value is applied to the corresponding BPF Case field.
- The synchronization will be "one way" in the sense that eForm data will be applied to the Case object but changes made directly to the Case fields will not be synchronized to eForm fields.
- Case fields will have to be exposed for the current CaseType at the Inbasket level for this synchronization to occur even if the Case Tab is hidden. If the Case Tab is hidden then all the required fields on the Case Tab should be present on the eForm so that values will be populated in the hidden Case Tab using synchronization.
- This synchronization will be performed through (and limited by) eForms JavaScript<sup>™</sup> APIs. If the Case tab is also exposed as visible, changes made to the eForm fields will only appear on the Case tab after the Case is closed and then re-opened. Just clicking the Save button will not update the display values on the Case tab unless the Case is closed and re-opened. This could cause confusion if the Case Tab is not hidden.

## Using an eForm Tab

## Editing an eForm

When a user opens a Case in the BPF Web Application and clicks on the eForms Tab, BPF will "Check out" the eForm (Form Data) Document object from Content Engine using the eForms API and display it to the user. It will be presented in editable mode if the eForms Tab is configured with mode=1 (via this querystring parameter in the URL specified for the eForms Tab in the TAB\_CONTENT column of the TABS table in the Bp8Metastore). Users will then be able to modify data on the eForm. In case of mode=2, BPF will display the eForm to the user as read-only.

## Saving an eForm

When a user clicks on the "Save" link, BPF will first "Check In" the eForm to the Content Engine and then immediately perform a "Check Out" on the new version. The exact sequence of events will be as follows.

- Synchronize BPF Case data with eForm form fields data based on identical field names
- Check In eForm in Content Engine
- Save BPF Case Object in Content Engine
- Check Out eForm again from Content Engine

**NOTE** Changing the value of an eForm field that is mapped to a choice list will have no effect unless the Tab key is used to move to next field. Once you select the correct choice, press Tab to accept the choice and move to the next field. If you press Tab without selecting a choice, the field is left blank and the cursor moves to the next field. This is a requirement of eForms itself.

#### **Closing an eForm**

When a user clicks on the "Close" link, BPF will silently perform a Content Engine "Cancel Checkout" on the eForm as long as there is no changed, unsaved data on the eForm (called dirty data). If there is dirty data on the eForm, then BPF will show an alert message to the user with "OK" and "Cancel" option as shown below.

Case Management - Microsoft Int	ernet Explorer								
Attach Document Add Document Que	ue Depth eForr		Attachmer	te	Save Close Ac	tion Mode: Browse	Edit Layout Create C	ase Search Prefe	rences Sign Out
🗲 FILENET	eron ع	115	Attachiner	1.5	Audic	_			
Priority	New EForm Case Pag	ge 2 Page 3 Page 4							M 4+ D M
Priority All									
Account Number	Priority:	3 💙							
Company Name	Account No:	101							
Received Date	Effective Date:	11/1/06							
	Received Date:	11/1/06							
Case ID	Contract Amount:	102.00							
Inbaskets	Company Name:	IBM							
Index (7) Matching (0)	DocEntryStatus:	0 🗸							
My Work (2)		Error mess	age - Case Manage	ment Web Page	Dialog				
Review (0)			Changes made to	the Case will be lost. Pr	ess OK or Cancel.	^			
				OK   Cancel					
						~			
Administrator	Role: Supervisor	~					Account Nu	mber: 101	
🦺 start 💧 🖗 🙆 🔍 🏹 😌	🔇 🖾 👋 🖁 Addres	s					🛩 🏓 Go		12:02 PM
🕴 🔳 Windows Ta	P8 3.6.0 Pla	🔁 2 Windows 👻	Server - bpf	40:58 - AT&	Brian Roots	🥑 🛢 Internet	eForms Inte		11/22/2006

If the user clicks "OK", BPF will go ahead and close the current Case. If the user clicks "Cancel", BPF will return to existing screen without performing a close operation and the user will be allowed to click on the "Save" option before attempting to close the Case.

#### Action

If the user chooses an Action from the "Action" menu, which closes a case, BPF will first Save the form, just as if the user clicked "Save" on the form, before performing any Action related operations and dispatching the PE work object associated with the case.

## **BPF Search with eForms**

BPF Searches are configured as CASEQUERY Inbaskets. BPF Inbaskets to be searched using eForms integration should be configured to expose the eForms Tab. If the eForms Tab is configured for mode =1 (editable) in the TAB\_CONTENT column of the TABS table in the Bp8Metastore, the first user will see the eForm in editable mode ("CheckOut" state) but if same Case is then searched and opened by another user while the first one still has it open, the other user will see the eForm in read-only mode with message saying "This eForm is 'checkout' by user <user-name>".

## **eForm Case Creation Tool**

## **Overview of the eForm Case Creation Tool**

This section describes how to create a new BPF Case with an associated eForm using the eForm Case Creation Tool. This tool can be accessed in a variety of ways in the BPF Web Application user interface depending on how it is configured. Regardless of which method is used to access the eForm Case Creation Tool, the user will be able to create a new BPF Case and from an eForm.

Cases created with the use of this tool are created without any document attachments. An eForm is *associated* with a Case but is *not* actually *attached* to a Case in the manner of a traditional BPF attachment. Other attached content; documents and/or folders, can be added to this Case after Case Creation is complete.

### Access Methods for the eForm Case Creation Tool

The eForm Case Creation Tool can be exposed in the BPF Web Application user interface to be accessed by the user in various ways based on design preferences. The choices are as follows:

1. As a **Dropdown Option** (Create Case Using eForms) among other Create Case tools in a Create Case dropdown menu in the upper right-hand section of the toolbar.

🌽 Case Management1 - M	🚰 Case Management 1 - Microsoft Internet Explorer												
Queue Depth				Mode: Browse	Edit Layou	t	Create Case	Search	Preferences	Sign Out			
FILENET	FILENET Page 1 of 1			First Previous Ne	xt Last		Create Case Us		cal File 🛛 🚇 Print Pi				
¥.				ReceivedDate		Create Case Using Repository Create Case Using eForms				CaseID			
	7	Low		8/18/2006 10:48:	49 AM	5	create case us	ng erorms		67965			
Priority				8/18/2006 11:34:	15 AM					67975			
All	Ъ	Low		8/18/2006 11:34:	48 AM					67976			
Account Number													

2. As an Application Menu Item (BPF Form Template) in the upper right-hand section of the toolbar.

a http://10	.10.58.17:9081	- Case	e Managem	ent - Micr	osoft Intern	iet Explo	rer				_ 0
New Case	Queue Depth	Page	1 of 1	First Pre	Mode: Brow		ayout	BPF Form Template	Search	Preference	
<u> </u>			<b>Priority</b>	Rece	eivedDate		Compa	any Name	Account	No	CaseID
Priority	Account Nu	8	Low								65985
All Company I Received I Inbaskets Index (2)	Date	6	Low				MITS				65986
Matching (											
My Work ( Review (0)											

 As an Inbasket Menu Item (New eForms Case) configured through BPF Explorer and displayed in the upper left-hand section of the toolbar. The tool names shown in this document in parenthesis are simply the defaults and can be changed.

🏄 http://hqdemo1:9081 -	- Case N	1anagement - M	licrosoft Internet Explo	orer				
New eForms Case New	Case	Queue Depth	Mode: Browse	Edit Layout	Create Case	Search	Preference:	s Sign Out
<b>FILENET</b>	Page	1 of 1 First	st Previous Next Last					Print Preview
<b>v</b>		Priority A	<u>ReceivedDate</u>	Company M	<u>Name</u>	Account	No	<u>CaseID</u>
Priority	▲ 🔒	Low						65985
All  Account Number		Low		MITS				65986
Company Name Received Date								
Inbaskets Index (2)	<b>-</b>							
Matching (0) My Work (0) Review (0)								

**NOTE** Choices 1 and 2 will be visible to all users at all times in the BPF Web Application user interface and are configured and customized via the Toolbar.xml file. Choice 3 is only visible when configured for individual Inbaskets and by tool visibility (Case mode, Browse mode, or both). It is configured using BPF Explorer.

### Using the eForm Case Creation Tool

Regardless of how the eForm Case Creation Tool is invoked, the eForm Case Creation Tool user interface will display a Form Template to be filled in by the user. All form data entry rules and functions will be available and enforced.

Save 🖏 Close		
w EForm Case Pag	e 2 Page 3 Page 4	4 ⊲•
Priority:		
Account No:		
Effective Date:		
Received Date:		
Contract Amount:		
Company Name:		
DocEntryStatus:		

The user will complete form data entry and then click on the "Save" icon that appears in the window.

In the case of the sample eForms Case Management workflow that ships with the BPF installation media, this will create a "Case Management Form" class document instance in Content Engine. The Workflow Subscription associated with the "Case Management Form" class will then create a Case by launching a

new workflow that executes the BPF\_Operation CreateCase (configured through a Component Integrator step in the process map). Assuming the current Inbasket is configured to display the eForms Tab, the initiating eForm will then be visible in the custom eForms Tab. The following sections describe how to configure the system in order to achieve this result.

**NOTE** There will be a slight time lag between the moment when the user saves an eForm Form Data document from within the eForm Case Creation Tool and the moment the Case actually appears in the first Inbasket.

## **Configuring the Access Method of the eForm Case Creation Tool**

#### **Dropdown Option**

This method utilizes the **toolbar.xml** file, located in the \WEB-INF directory of the BPF Web Application, to configure the Form Template which will be invoked when the dropdown option is selected by the user.

By default, the hyperlink for this tool is commented out in the toolbar.xml file and must be un-commented and configured with the correct Form Template GUIDs in order to see the dropdown option and invoke the proper Form Template.

There are two GUID parameter values which are passed to invokeFormTemplate. They represent the object\_id and the version\_series\_id, respectively, of the Form Template (.itx) to be invoked.

These values must be edited with the correct values of the Form Template that you wish to invoke from the dropdown option. The **bold** text below shows the specific values that must be substituted with the Form Template GUID parameters.

<!--

EXTENSION TIP: Drop-down Create Case menu

A drop-down menu could be configured for selecting Create Case tools and Form Templates. NOTE: See the top of this file for documentation on invokeFormTemplate() and executeToolFromToolbar() helper function.

-->

<Item Caption='Create Case' Name='Case Templates' SearchMode='no'>

<Description></Description>

<Item Caption='Create Case Using Local File' Name='create\_case' >

<Description>New Case</Description>

<Action>javascript:executeToolFromToolbar( "create\_case","Bp8CreateCase.jsp", 400, 340, 1,1 )</Action>

</Item>

<Item Caption='Create Case Using Repository' Name='create\_browse' >

<Description>New with Browse</Description>

<Action>javascript:executeToolFromToolbar( "create\_browse","CreateCase.jsp", 380, 400,
1,1 )</Action>

</Item>

<!--<Item Caption='Create Case Using eForms' Name='create\_eFormsCase' >

<Description>Case Template</Description>

```
<Action>javascript:invokeFormTemplate("{EEA94519-1382-4329-BC99-
E3BE5B984471}","{6F434403-DFC8-4E7D-B9D5-4C9572AD80BD}")</Action>
</Item>
-->
```

```
</Item>
```

#### **Application Menu Item**

This method also utilizes the **toolbar.xml** file, located in the \WEB-INF directory of the BPF Web Application, to configure the Form Template which will be invoked when the menu item is selected by the user. Configuration of menu items is found in a different section of Toolbar.xml then previously described in the Dropdown Option.

By default, the hyperlink for this tool is commented out in the toolbar.xml file and must be un-commented and configured with the correct Form Template GUIDs in order to see the dropdown option and invoke the proper Form Template.

There are two GUID parameter values which are passed to invokeFormTemplate. They represent the object\_id and the version\_series\_id, respectively, of the Form Template (.itx) to be invoked.

These values must be edited with the correct values of the Form Template that you wish to invoke from the menu item. The **bold** text below shows the specific values that must be substituted with the Form Template GUID parameters.

### **Inbasket Menu Item**

Lastly, if the design decision is made to expose the eForm Case Creation tool as a traditional BPF tool in the BPF Web Application UI and make it available for specific Inbaskets only, this is configured through BPF Explorer.

The Case Management sample application manifest (bpf\_cm.xml) which is typically imported into BPF Explorer as part of a new BPF installation already has the eForm Case Creation tool (create\_eFormsCase) configured as a BPF tool in BPF Explorer. See the BPF Explorer Tools definition below.

ieneral					
Case type Fool name Display label Handler URL	Case Management create_eFormsCase New eForms Case ExtCommand.jsp?eF	▼ orms&ExtTask=ci	Appearance Window width 463 Window height 405 I Resizable I Modal		
Account N Active APPROVE BOUNDUSE BPF Book BPF Date BPF Num BPF Pickl BPF String Case ID Case Type Company Contract A Contract N CreateCas Creator Date Clos	ER Group er ean ey eric list Name Name Amount Notes se	First Up All All Coven Coven Last	Display Label Cas	se Field Value Reg	uired Visible f

To modify or manually create a new eForm Case Creation tool in BPF Explorer, refer to the Tools section in the *IBM FileNet Business Process Framework Explorer Handbook* for information on the field definition descriptions.

The handlerURL entry for this tool has the following syntax, and any changes or customizations to the handlerURL for this tool must adhere to the following specification:

ExtCommand.jsp?eForms&ExtTask=create\_eform\_case&id={46A4F3A1-41C2-46B9-AE71-4393D906B335}&vsId={6F434403-DFC8-4E7D-B9D5-4C9572AD80BD}&objectType=document

There are 5 parameters in the URL passed by this tool to the **ExtCommand.jsp** page:

Parameter name	Case sensitivity	Description	Remarks
eForms	Case sensitive	This value is used to differentiate the "create_eFormsCase" tool from other tools.	Do not change this value.
ExtTask=create_eform_case	Case sensitive	Identifies the external task.	Do not change this value.
id	Always use upper case alpha characters for alpha hex digits.	object_id of the ITX form Template document object.	Change this value to match the object_id of the ITX form Template document object you

			want to use.
vsld	Always use upper case alpha characters for alpha hex digits.	version_series_id of the version of the ITX Form Template to be invoked.	Change this value to match the version_series_id of the version of the ITX form Template document object you want to use.
objectType=document	Case sensitive	Identifies the object type of the ITX Form Template to be invoked.	Do not change this value.

## **Configuring the eForm Case Creation Tool**

The remainder of this section on the eForm Case Creation Tool is dedicated to a step-by-step description of how to configure and deploy the tool itself, using the Case Management sample application (as modified and updated for eForms integration) as an example. The following steps will be the same regardless of which of the three access methods is used to expose this tool once it is configured.

## **Configuration files for eForms**

In order for eForms to be accessed within BPF, the following two configuration files need to be copied to the BPF configuration directory:

- eforms-integration.xml
- eforms-functions.xml

The source configuration files are delivered on the BPF installation media in the following folder:

CDRoot\misc\solutions\case\_management\config folder

Copy the files into the configuration directory.

• To determine the location of the configuration directory, look for the value of the parameter "configurationDirectory" inside <br/>bpf-app>/WEB-INF/web.xml file. The default value for the configuration directory is C:\\Program Files\\FileNet\\Config\\BPF.

### Add the Form Template to P8 Workplace

The first step in deploying a custom solution would be to create a new Form Template using the FileNet eForms Designer application, saving the result as an **.itx** file. In designing the template, it would be important to name those form fields that will integrate with BPF Case fields in such a way that the form field names match the names of the corresponding BPF Case fields *exactly*, so that the BPF eForms integration code will recognize the need to synchronize their values and synchronize the data accordingly. If you design a form field in a Form Template as required, this will be in enforced when using the eForm Case Creation Tool.

In the Case Management sample application, this has already been done for you. The **Case.itx** Form Template is provided in the "CDRoot\misc\solutions\case\_management\config" folder installed within the file structure of the BPF Web Application by the BPF installation media.

Next, add the **Case.itx** Form Template using Workplace (via eForms Designer) by executing the following steps.

1. Open your Form Template using eForm Designer.

eForms Designer - [0				
	rrange Ryle Settings Form Window He	le .		_ <del>_</del> <del>/</del> / ×
	i ≥ ₽ <b>6</b> ♥ • 9			
Arial	★ B / U 影響	3 8		
A/DO	∽┎□□▣⊣٩			
教 教   62 第 1 8	- P 邑 & #			
No cells selected	💽 🙀 🔤 🗰 🖬 🖉 X 🖓 🖗	· 图 印 李 图 印 平 图 平		
🗤 Work Page   Master	Page New EForm Case			
				3
				*
Priority	1:P nor			
Account No.	2 Account/lumber			
	3 EffectiveDute			
Effective Date:	a a mediare bate			
Received Date:	4ReceivedDate			
Contract Amount	5.ContractAmount			
Company Name:	8:CompanyName			
ALCONG ANY LODGE 1	kannalashanan ana ana ana ana ana ana ana ana an	frameson (		
DocEntryStatus:	7.000E0			
		172		
				*
View 100% • 1	O) P8 eForms	+	<b>A</b> .	- 21 21
	10 TO THE	144		

and the second second	eForms Designer [Case.itx] File Edit Layout Amange 3	tyle Settings Form V	Indow Help	_			
	New Orlen Open OtleO	8					
	Class Onlew PMMx PB Save As Save As Import Onle1	B I U  Open  Add  Add  Add  Chedan  Save Cancel Onechout Properties	<b>= = = =</b> +, 15 ↔ 0 ⊟ \$	- 75 (J) (F)			
	Print Setup Print OnleP	Logout					
	Recent Templates					-	-
	Est						
l	Received Date: TRUE Contract Amount: DCard	biviDate					
	Weec 100年 ▼ <u>#</u> ]	jāj PS «Fo	ma 🕂	h	E.	- 2 <sup>2</sup>	

2. Add the Template to Workplace using File > FileNet P8 > Add menu.

This will bring up the Workplace login page. If you are checking in the eForms Template for the first time, you will see the screenshot below, for subsequent logins, you will see the second version of the login screen shown.

3. Enter the required login credentials.

FileNet P8 Login	ENET*
Name:	administrator
Password:	****
Workplace	Address:
Server I	Name: hqdemo1
Port:	9080
Applicat	ion: Workplace
Se Se	rver uses secure connection (SSL)
Version : U	
© 2002 - 2005 FileNe	t Corporation. All Rights Reserved.
	OK Cancel Options <<
FileNet P8 Login	×
🗲 FIL	ENET* /orkplace Application Integration
Name:	administrator
Password:	*****
© 2002 - 2005 FileNe	t Corporation. All Rights Reserved.

4. Select the Object Store and Folder in which you wish to store this template.

🔲 FileNet P8 Add - Case.itx					×
Administrator   Tuesday, April 3,	2007 Add Document			Help   Close	ŕ
Steps <u>1. Select Folder</u> <u>2. Set Properties</u> <u>3. Set Security</u>	-	ores > Bp80bject5 2 Show Contents	ms > 🧀 Form	Template	
Summary: Object Store: <i>BpBObjectStor</i> Folder: <i>Form Template</i> Document Class: <i>ITX Form T</i> Filename: <i>Case. Itx</i>				Next Cancel	
			[		•

5. Enter the Document Title. This title will appear on the title bar of the IE window when the eForm Case Creation Tool is invoked in BPF. You must add the Form Template as a major version.

FileNet P8 Add - Case.itx			×
dministrator   Tuesday, April 3,	2007	Help   Close	-
animistrator processay, April 5,	Add Document	nop cose	d
Steps <ul> <li><u>1. Select Folder</u></li> </ul>	Class: ITX Form Template 🤇	hange Class	
2. Set Properties	Property	Value	
3. Set Security	Document Title:	New eForm Case - Case Management	
	Form Description:		
	Options		
	Add as major version:	Yes	
Summary:			
Object Store: BpBObjectStor	re	Previous Next Finish	
Folder: <i>Form Template</i>			ļ
Document Class: <i>ITX Form To</i>	emplate	Cancel	
Filename: <i>Case.itx</i>			

6. Apply the desired security settings for the template.

ileNet P8 Add - Case.itx										>
lministrator   Tuesday, April 3,	, 2007								Help   Close	
	Add Document									
Steps       1. Select Folder       2. Set Properties       3. Set Security	Security Policy: 🥘 [n 🕞 Assign Policy	one assigni	ed]							
	Title	Owner Control	Promote Version	Modify Content	Modify Props	View Content	View Props	Publish	Remove	
	AUTHENTICATED: USERS	-				1	1			
	Administrator	1	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Summary:									Add New	
Object Store: BpBObjectStor	re						F	revious	Finish	
Folder: <i>Form Template</i> Document Class: <i>ITX Form T</i> Filename: <i>Case.itx</i>	Femplate						_		Cancel	

7. Click Finish. You should see the following two screens when the Form Template has been added successfully as an ITX Form Template document object in Workplace.

FileNet P8 Add - Case.itx		×
Administrator   Tuesday, April 3, 2007	Help   Close	
Add Confirmation		
Add succeeded for: New eForm Case - Case Management		
Summary:		
Object Store: BpBObjectStore	ok	
Parent Folder: <i>Form Template</i>		
Document Class: ITX Form Template		
Filename: <i>Case,itx</i>		
Copyright © 2002, 2006 FileNet Corporation. All rights reserved.		-

### **Add Entry Template**

Now that you have added your ITX Form Template document to Workplace, the next step is to add an Entry Template for it.

8. Go to Workplace > Author > Advanced Tools and select "Add Entry Template".



9. Select "Form Data Entry Template".

Workplace: Select Object - Microsoft Internet Explorer	×
Administrator   Wednesday, May 17, 2006	Help   Clase
Add Entry Template - Select Type	
Document Entry Template Document Entry Template used to add new Documents. Can specify the location, Document Class, an associated Workflow. Select	, property and security settings and optionally
Folder Entry Template Folder Entry Template used to add new Folders. Can specify the location, Folder Class, property a associated Workflow. Select.	and security settings and optionally an
Custom Object Entry Template Entry Template used to add new Custom Objects. Can specify the location, Custom Object Class, an associated Workflow. Select	property and security settings and optionally
Form Data Entry Template Form Data Entry Template used to add new Form Data Objects. Can specify the location, Form Da optionally an associated Workflow, Select.	ata Class, property and security settings and
	Close
Copyright @ 2002, 2005 FileNet Corporation. All rights reserved.	
a) Done	<u>₩</u> Local intranet

10. Specify the CE Folder location where you plan to store Form Data documents (i.e. individual instances of the completed eForm class - one for each BPF Case - for which you are here configuring an Entry Template). Then check the "Hide Select Folder step" radio option so that end users will not be able to change the Folder location you have configured here.

ninistrator   Tuesday, April 3			Help   Clo
	Add Entry Template		
Define Template           I. Select Folder	Path: Object Stores > Bp8ObjectStore > BP	'F > eforms > 🗀 Form Data	
2. Set Properties	🧊 Get Info 🛛 櫿 Show Contents 🛛 🔓 Ad	ld Folder	
3. Set Security			
Define Workflow			
4. Select Workflow			
5. Set Properties	Select Folder step display setting:		
Save Template	C Show Select Folder step	Ide Select Folder step	
6. Select Folder			
7. Set Properties	Constrain to folder selected or its sub-	feldene.	
8. Set Security	Constrain to folder selected of its sub-	olders.	
Summary:			
Object Store: Bp8ObjectSt	ore		Next
Folder: Form Data			
Document Class: (Not Selec	sted)		Cancel
Entry Type: Form Data			

#### 11. Click the "Change Class" link in the "Set Properties" step.

ninistrator   Tuesday, April 3	, 2007			Help   Clo
	Add Entry	7 Template		1001 1
Define Template <ul> <li><u>1. Select Folder</u></li> </ul>	Class: Fo	rm Data <u>Change Class</u>		<u> Order Class propertie</u>
2. Set Properties	Required	Property	Default Value	Access Level
3. Set Security Define Workflow 4. Select Workflow		Document Title		Editable 💌
5. Set Properties		Options		
Save Template <u>6. Select Folder</u> 7. Set Properties		Add as major version:	No	Editable
8. Set Security	Entry templ	late setting::		
	Θs	Show Set Properties step	C Hide Set Pro	operties step
Summary:				
Object Store: Bp8ObjectSto	re			Previous Next
Folder: Form Data				
Document Class: Form Data				Cancel

12. Click "Case Management Form" class, if you are deploying the Case Management sample application code. Otherwise, choose the "Form Data" document subclass (creating one, if necessary) that you want to use for your own custom solution.

🖉 http://hqdemo1:9081 - Workplace: Select Class - Microsoft Internet Explorer		x
Administrator   Tuesday, April 3, 2007 Select Class	Help   Close	
<ul> <li>Path</li> <li>Image: Space of the state of the state</li></ul>	Close	
Copyright © 2002, 2006 FileNet Corporation. All rights reserved.		-
🙋 Done	ernet	1.

13. For the Case Management sample application, set the default value for DocEntryStatus=DocEntry (used in the Filter Expression of the Content Engine Workflow Subscription that will launch the eFormsCaseManagement Workflow to create a new BPF Case) and CasePriority=Low (consistent with existing create\_case tool).

Select the "Hide" option under Access Level for "DocEntryStatus" field so that end users cannot change it. Then select the radio button for "Hide Set Properties step" so that end users cannot change the properties either.

http://hqdemo1:9081 - Wo Administrator   Tuesday, April 3		ntry Template Designer - Micros	soft Internet Explorer		Heln	Close
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		Template				
Define Template           ✓         1. Select Folder	Class: Ca	se Management Form Chang	ie Class		💐 Order Class prop	<u>perties</u>
2. Set Properties	Required	Property	Default Value		Access Level	
<u>3. Set Security</u> Define Workflow		Document Title			Editable	•
<u>4. Select Workflow</u> 5. Set Properties		Account Number			Editable	•
Save Template		Bp8CaseID			Editable	•
<u>6. Select Folder</u> 7. Set Properties		Company Name			Editable	•
8. Set Security		Contract Amount			Editable	•
		DocEntryStatus	DocEntry	-	Hide	•
		CasePriority	Low	•	Editable	•
		Effective Date	Clear (MM/d/yy)		Editable	•
		ReceivedDate	Clear (MM/d/yy)		Editable	•
		Options				
		Add as major version:	Ves. 🗸		Editable	•
	Entry templ	ate setting::				
	Og	ihow Set Properties step	Hide Set Properties step			
Summary:						
Object Store: BpBObjectSto	ve				Previous 1	Vext
Folder: <i>Form Data</i> Document Class: <i>Case Mana</i>	agement Serve				Car	ncel
Entry Type: Form Data	igement rom	J			- Our	
🖨 Done					🥶 Internet	

Set the value for "Add as major version"=Yes.

14. Select the appropriate security settings and then select the "Hide Set Security step" radio button, so that end users cannot change the security settings.

	Add Entry Template								
Define Template <ul> <li>1. Select Folder</li> </ul>	Security Policy: 🔘 [n	one assign	ed]						
<ul> <li>2. Set Properties</li> </ul>	🕞 Assign Policy	8 <b>-</b>							
3. Set Security									
Define Workflow <u>4. Select Workflow</u>	Title		Promote Version				View Props	Publish	Remove
5. Set Properties	Mauthenticated	-				1	1		
Save Template 6. Select Folder	A #CREATOR-	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
<ol> <li>Set Properties</li> <li>Set Security</li> </ol>	Administrator	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
	Select Security step disp				82				
	C Show Set Sec	curity step			() Hide	Set Securi	ty step		
Summary:									
Object Store: Bp8ObjectSt	tore							Previous	Next
Folder: Form Data	Service -							Previous	Nex

15. Skip the "Define Workflow" section ("4. Select Workflow" and "5. Set Properties").

16. At "6. Select Folder", specify the CE Folder where this Entry Template will be saved.

🙆 http://hqdemo1:9081 - W	Vorkplace: Entry Template Designer - Microsoft Internet Explorer	
Administrator   Tuesday, April 3	3, 2007	Help   Close
	Add Entry Template	
Define Template <ul> <li>1. Select Folder</li> <li>2. Set Properties</li> <li>3. Set Security</li> </ul> Define Workflow <ul> <li>4. Select Workflow</li> <li>5. Set Properties</li> <li>Save Template</li> <li>6. Select Folder</li> <li>7. Set Properties</li> <li>8. Set Security</li> </ul>	Path \vee: Object Stores > Bp8ObjectStore > BPF > eforms > 🖆 Form Entry Template	
Summary:		
Object Store: <i>BpBObjectSt</i> Document Class: <i>Entry Ten</i> Entry Type: <i>Form Data</i>		Previous Next Cancel
Copyright © 2002, 2006 FileNet Co	rporation. All rights reserved.	-
Done Done		🔮 Internet 🛛 🖊

17. At "7. Set Properties", Enter an appropriate "Document Title" value for your Entry Template, such as "CreateCaseEntryTemplate" for the Case Management sample application.

🏄 http://hqdemo1:9081 - W	orkplace: Entry Template De	signer - Microsoft Internet Explorer	
Administrator   Tuesday, April 3	, 2007		Help   Close
	Add Entry Template		
Define Template <ul> <li>1. Select Folder</li> </ul>	Class: Entry Template		
<ul> <li>2. Set Properties</li> </ul>	Property	Value	
✓ <u>3. Set Security</u> Define Workflow	Document Title:	CreateCaseEntry Template	
<ul> <li><u>4. Select Workflow</u></li> <li><u>5. Set Properties</u></li> </ul>	Description:	×	
Save Template           Save Template           V         6. Select Folder			
7. Set Properties     8. Set Security			
Summary:			
Object Store: <i>Bp8ObjectSto</i> Document Class: <i>Entry Tem</i>			Previous Next
Entry Type: Form Data			Cancel
Copyright © 2002, 2006 FileNet Cor	poration. All rights reserved.		<b>•</b>
🙋 Done			🚺 🚺 Internet 🅢

🗿 http://hqdemo1:9081 - W	orkplace: Entry Templa	te Designer	- Microsoft I	Internet Exp	olorer				
Administrator   Tuesday, April 3	3. 2007								Help   Close
	Add Entry Template								
Define Template          1. Select Folder         2. Set Properties         3. Set Security	Security Policy: 🥘 [no.	ne assigned]							
Define Workflow 4. Select Workflow	Title	Owner Control	Promote Version	Modify Content	Modify Props	View Content	View Props	Publish	Remove
<ul> <li>✓ <u>5. Set Properties</u></li> <li>Save Template</li> </ul>	AUTHENTICATED- USERS					1	1		
✓ 6. Select Folder	Administrator	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
<ul> <li>7. Set Properties</li> <li>8. Set Security</li> <li>Summary:</li> </ul>									Add New
Object Store: Bp8ObjectSt	ore							Previous	Finish
Document Class: <i>Entry Ten</i> Entry Type: <i>Form Data</i>	plate								Cancel
Copyright @ 2002, 2006 FileNet Co	poration. All rights reserved.								
Done								🔮 Interne	

18. At "8. Set Security ", apply the appropriate security settings and click Finish.

19. Click "OK" on the "Add Confirmation" screen.

🚰 http://hqdemo1:9081 - Workplace: Confirm Prompt - Microsoft Internet Explorer	
Administrator   Tuesday, April 3, 2007	Help   Close 📥
Add Confirmation	
Add succeeded for: CreateCaseEntryTemplate	
Summary:	
Object Store: <i>BpBObjectStore</i> Parent Folder: <i>Form Entry Template</i> Document Class: <i>Entry Template</i>	OK
	<b>T</b>
🙋 Done	🕑 Internet 🛛 🖉

## Add a Form Policy

Now that you have added your Form Template and created your Form Entry Template, you are ready to add a Form Policy to your Form Entry Template using Workplace > Advanced tools > Add Form Policy as follows.

20. Go to Workplace > Author > Advanced Tools and select "Add Form Policy".



#### 21. Select "Document Policy".

	t Internet Explorer		1	_ [#] ×
File Edit Wein Fain	edas Tosli Hala			10
4-Back - + · Q	2 2 Qiteeth Illevotes @Mede 3 2 2 2 2 2			
Address 📄 http://hv 🗾	Workplace: Select Form Map Type - Microsoft Internet Explorer	IX	12.00	Links **
4 5	dministrator   Wednesday, May 17, 2006 Help   Close	-		-
🔫 Filel	Add form Template Policy - Select Type			
Administrator   Wede	Document Policy     A Document Policy maps Form Template Fields to Document Class properties.     Select		<u>es   97</u>	out
© My Workplace © Tasks © Shortcuts © Browse	A Workflow Policy     A Workflow Policy maps Form Template Fields to Workflow Step Parameters and optionally, can map Form Template Fields to Document Class     properties.     Select			_
EVTFS P8_361_FS ID Search ID Author	Close		v to lieund	<b>`</b>
General Tools Advanced Tools ID Adomin	panghi @ 2852, 2005 FileHet Corporation. All rights reserved.	2	current,	
				_

22. At "1. Select Form Template", Select the Form Template you added earlier.

orkplace: Document Manager	Wizard - Microsoft Internet Explorer	
ninistrator   Wednesday, May 17, 2		Help   Close
	Add Document Policy	
Create Policy	all the family three where the	
1. Select Form Template	Selected Form: [none selected]	
2. Select Entry Template	Browse/Search for Form Template	
3. Map Form Fields		
Save Policy		
4. Select Folder		
5. Set Properties		
6. Set Security		
Summary:		
Object Store: (Not Selected)		Cancel
Form Template: (Not Selected)		Galicel
Entry Template: (Not Selected)		
1		
right @ 2002, 2005 FileNet Corporatio	n. All rights reserved.	
		Local intranet

23. Once you have selected your Form Template, choose the correct version of it by first clicking on the "Select from Versions" link...

🖉 http://hqdemo1:9081	- Workplace: Select Object - Microsoft Internet Explorer	
Administrator   Tuesday, April 3, 2007		Help   Close
	Select Form Template - Select Item	
Browse Bp8ObjectStore	Path 🕶: Object Stores > Bp8ObjectStore > BPF > eforms > 📴 Form Template	
Search	Get Info	
	Items Found: 2	Show Items: 10 💽
	Case Template Written by Administrator and last modified by Administrator on 2/22/07 10:43 AM Select from Versions	
	New eForm Case - Case Management Written by Administrator and last modified by Administrator on 4/3/07 6:17 PM Select from Versions	
		Close
Copyright © 2002, 2006 FileNe	t Corporation. All rights reserved.	
e e		Internet
24. Clicking on the "Select" link that appears under the version you want to use.

http://10.10.58.17:904	81 - Workplace: Select Object - Microsoft Internet Explorer	
Administrator   Wednesday	y, April 4, 2007	Help   Close
	Select Form Template - Select Item	
Browse Bp8ObjectStore Search	Path <b>*</b> : Object Stores > Bp8ObjectStore > BPF > eforms > a Form Template > New eForm Case Management (Version Series)	- Case
	<ul> <li>New eForm Case - Case Management (Version 2.0) Written by Administrator and last modified by Administrator on 4/4/07 9:55 AM Select</li> <li>New eForm Case - Case Management (Version 1.0) Written by Administrator and last modified by Administrator on 4/4/07 9:53 AM Select</li> </ul>	
		Close
Copyright © 2002, 2006 FileNet	et Corporation. All rights reserved.	*
e	🕐 Interne	t //.

25. Click the "Next" button to complete "1. Select Form Template".

🚈 http://hqdemo1:9081 - Workplace: Document Policy Wizard - Microsoft Internet Explorer	_ 🗆 🗵
Administrator   Tuesday, April 3, 2007	Help   Close
Add Document Policy	
Create Policy       1. Select Form Template         2. Select Entry Template       Selected Form: Image: New eForm Case - Case Management (Version 1.0)         3. Map Form Fields         Save Policy         4. Select Folder         5. Set Properties         6. Set Security	
Summary:	
Object Store: Bp8ObjectStore	Next
Form Template: <i>New eForm Case - Case Management</i> Entry Template: <i>(Not Selected)</i>	Cancel
Copyright @ 2002, 2006 FileNet Corporation. All rights reserved.	v
🙋 Done	et <i>11.</i>

26. At "2. Select Entry Template", select the Form Entry Template (for example, "CreateCaseEntryTemplate" in the case of the Case Management sample application) you created earlier.

🚰 http://hqdemo1:9081 - Workpla	ace: Document Policy Wizard - Microsoft Internet Explorer	
Administrator   Tuesday, April 3, 2007	Help   Close	
	Add Document Policy	
Create Policy  1. Select Form Template  2. Select Entry Template  3. Map Form Fields  Save Policy  4. Select Folder  5. Set Properties  6. Set Security	Selected Entry Template: [none selected]    Browse/Search existing Entry Template  Add Entry Template	-
Summary: Object Store: <i>Bp8ObjectStore</i> Form Template: <i>New eForm Case</i> - Entry Template: <i>(Not Selected)</i>	- Case Management Previous Next Cancel	-
Copyright © 2002, 2006 FileNet Corporation	-	Ţ
🕙 Done		/

27. Click the "Select" link appearing under the version of your Form Entry Template that you would like to use.

🖉 http://hqdemo1:9081	- Workplace: Select Entry Templates - Microsoft Internet Explorer	
Administrator   Tuesday, Ap	ril 3, 2007	Help   Close
	Select Entry Template - Select Item	
Bp8ObjectStore Bp8ObjectStore Search	Path <b>v</b> : Object Stores > Bp8ObjectStore > BPF > eforms > CareateCaseEntryTemplate > (Version Series) () Get Info	
	CreateCaseEntryTemplate (Version 1.0) Written by Administrator and last modified by Administrator on 4/3/07 6:42 PM Select	
		Close
Copyright © 2002, 2006 FileNet	Corporation. All rights reserved.	
		<b>T</b>
e http://hqdemo1:9081/Wo	rkplace/wizards/DocumentManager.jsp?windowId=_1.T111ba43488d&selectMoc	rnet //.

28. Click "Next" to complete "2. Select Entry Template".

🖉 http://hqdemo1:9081 - Workplace: Document Policy Wizard - Microsoft Internet Explorer	
Administrator   Tuesday, April 3, 2007	Help   Close
Add Document Policy	
Create Policy       1. Select Form Template         Select Entry Template       Selected Entry Template:         3. Map Form Fields       Save Policy         4. Select Folder       S. Set Properties         6. Set Security       Security	Add Entry Template
Summary:	
Object Store: Bp8ObjectStore	Previous Next
Form Template: New eForm Case - Case Management Entry Template: CreateCaseEntryTemplate	Cand <u>To proceed</u>
Copyright @ 2002, 2006 FileNet Corporation. All rights reserved.	<b>•</b>
Done	🔮 Internet 🥼

29. At "3. Map Form Fields", map the eForm form fields to the Content Engine Form Data Document subclass (for example, "Case Management Form") properties. (In the case of the Case Management sample application, make sure the mapping is two-way for all fields/properties except for DocEntryStatus.)

http://hqdemo1:9081 - Wo	rkplace: Document Policy Wizard - Microso	it Internet Explorer	
dministrator   Tuesday, April 3, 3	2007		Help   Close
	Add Document Policy		
Create Policy           I. Select Form Template           2. Colort Form Template	Class: Case Management Form		
<ul> <li>2. Select Entry Template</li> <li>3. Map Form Fields</li> </ul>	Items Found: 7		Show Items: 10 💌
Save Policy	Published Form Fields	Dir Class Properties	
<ol> <li><u>4. Select Folder</u></li> <li>5. Set Properties</li> </ol>	🙀 Priority (Text)	<=> CasePriority (string)	
6. Set Security	😽 AccountNumber (Text)	<=> AccountNumber (string)	
	🍕 EffectiveDate (Date)	<=> EffectiveDate (date)	
	📢 ReceivedDate (Date)	<=> ReceivedDate (date)	
	😪 ContractAmount (Number)	<=> ContractAmount (float)	
	嶺 CompanyName (Text)	<=> CompanyName (string)	
	🙀 DocEntryStatus (Number)	< DocEntryStatus (int)	
Summary:			
Object Store: BpBObjectStore Form Template: New eForm C		1	Previous Next
Entry Template: CreateCaseL			Cancel
yright @ 2002, 2006 FileNet Corpo			
			~
Done			🧿 Internet

30. At "4. Select Folder", select the Content Engine Folder in which you wish to save the policy.

🚈 http://hqdemo1:9081 - Workplace: Document Policy Wizard - Microsoft Internet Explorer	
Administrator   Tuesday, April 3, 2007	Help   Close
Add Document Policy	
Create Policy       1. Select Form Template       Path ▼: Object Stores > Bp8ObjectStore > BPF > eforms > ☐ Form Policy         ✓       2. Select Entry Template       Image: Get Info       Get Info       Show Contents       Add Folder         ✓       3. Map Form Fields	
Save Policy	
4. Select Folder     5. Set Properties     6. Set Security	
Summary:	<u>.</u>
Object Store: BpBObjectStore	Previous Next
Form Template: New eForm Case - Case Management	
Entry Template: CreateCaseEntryTemplate	Cancel
Copyright © 2002, 2006 FileNet Corporation. All rights reserved.	<b>•</b>
🙆 Done	🌍 Internet 🛛 🖉

31. At "5. Set Properties ", specify a Document Title for your Form Policy ("eFormsCreateCasePolicy" in the case of the Case Management sample application).

	kplace: Document Policy Wizard		
dministrator   Tuesday, April 3, 2	Add Document Policy		Help   Close
Create Policy <ul> <li>1. Select Form Template</li> </ul>	Class: Form Policy		
<ul> <li>2. Select Entry Template</li> </ul>	Property	Value	
<ul> <li><u>3. Map Form Fields</u></li> <li>Save Policy</li> </ul>	Document Title:	eFormsCreateCasePolicy	
<ul> <li><u>4. Select Folder</u></li> </ul>	Form Policy Description:		
5. Set Properties			
<u>6. Set Security</u>	Options		
	Add as major version:	Yes	
	Offline Options	Value	
	Take Policy Offline:	Enabled -	
	Bring Form Online:	Use original Policy version when bringing online	•
	Form Online Display:	Show Form always	
Summary:			
Object Store: Bp8ObjectStore			Previous Next
Form Template: New eForm Ca	ase - Case Management		
Entry Template: CreateCaseEr	ntry Template		Cancel
right @ 2002, 2006 FileNet Corpor	ration. All rights reserved.		
)one			🥑 Internet

Add as Major Version must be set to Yes, and then click "Next".

http://hqdemo1:9081 - Worl	kplace: Document Polic	y Wizard -	Microsoft I	nternet Exp	olorer					×
Administrator   Tuesday, April 3, 20	007								Help   Close	<b></b>
	Add Document Policy									
Create Policy <ul> <li>1. Select Form Template</li> <li>2. Select Entry Template</li> <li>3. Map Form Fields</li> </ul>	Security Policy: 🔞 [noi 🕞 Assign Policy	ne assigned	7							
Save Policy	Title	Owner Control	Promote Version	Modify Content	Modify Props	View Content	View Props	Publish	Remove	
<ul> <li><u>4. Select Folder</u></li> <li><u>5. Set Properties</u></li> <li><u>6. Set Security</u></li> </ul>	#AUTHENTICATED- USERS	concror	TEISIOII	concent	rrops	✓	√ v	rubiisii		
• <u>6. Set Security</u>	& Administrator	1	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Summary:									Add New	
Object Store: BpBObjectStore								Previous	Finish	
Form Template: <i>New eForm Ca</i> Entry Template: <i>CreateCaseEr</i>							-		Cancel	
Copyright © 2002, 2006 FileNet Corpor	ration. All rights reserved.									
Done								🔮 Interne	ŧ	

32. At "6. Set Security ", apply the appropriate security settings, then click "Finish".

33. Click "OK" on the "Add Confirmation" screen.

🚰 http://hqdemo1:9081 - Workplace: Confirm Prompt - Microsoft Internet Explorer		_ 🗆 ×
Administrator   Tuesday, April 3, 2007	Help	Close 📩
Add Confirmation		
Add succeeded for: eFormsCreateCasePolicy		
Summary:		
Object Store: Bp8ObjectStore		ок
Parent Folder: Form Policy		
Document Class: Form Policy		
Copyright © 2002, 2006 FileNet Corporation. All rights reserved.		
		<u> </u>
e Done	🔮 Internet	///

## **Process Engine Changes for eForms Integration**

The functional aspects of the BPF eForms Tab and eForm Case Creation Tool have now been covered. The following sections cover in greater detail some of the underlying changes in PE, the BPF Metastore, and Content Engine (CE) that are required to get this functionality to work, beginning, in this section, with PE.

#### **Transfer New Workflow Definition to Process Engine**

A new Workflow map (**eFormsCaseManagement.pep**) will be provided as part of the Case Management sample application that ships with the BPF install media. This map contains several enhancements over the old **CaseManagement.pep** file, all specifically related to eForms integration. The design is that this workflow will be launched through a Content Engine Workflow Subscription created on the "Case Management Form" Content Engine Document class (a subclass of Form Data), triggered whenever a new instance of this class is created ("Creation Event") through the eForm Case Creation Tool, for example.

34. Specifically, the new Workflow map will have the following eForms-specific data fields:

- MimeType: for holding the mimeType of eForm. This will be used for a conditional check in the Workflow map.
- Bp8PrimaryForm: for holding the "vsId" of the eForm used to launch this Workflow.

and the second se			A REAL PROPERTY OF THE REAL PR	THE PARTY NEW YORK	5- 3 = E 🧕	Contractory of the local division of the loc				Marcale Science	
dens (c) http://h	ngdemo:8080.	an and a straight of the	al desta provincia de la construcción de la	increase of possible presidents	13E7BB-0190-4345-AF4	NAME AND ADDRESS OF		in the second	and a state of the second s	and the standard lines.	
C! - C-		-	earch Web ·	TE - 🔮 - 🛛 😁	Mal 🔹 😳 My Yahool	Arem	au + 🛃 liane	e 🔹 🎣 FIFA Worl	d Cup 🔹 🏦 Music	- 💓 Perso	mals +
e Edit View	Tools He	(p									
BEL	8 13	176 IRA []	199	V 141251	2 3 3 3						
		w Properties							2	4	
Workflow (M	General	Advanced	Data Fields	Atlachments	Workflow Groups	Maps	Milestones	Web Services		6 <	: 1 ?
	Data Field	is.							H O C X		
1000		Name		Туре	Merge Type		Expression	Des	cription		
	Recei	vedDate	Time		Override	syst	emtime0				
2	Rejec	ted	Boolean		Override	false	1				
LaunchStee	Send	foHost	Boolean		Overtide	false	F				_
	Expire		Boolean		Overtide	false	£				
		азеТуре	integer		Override	0					
		ntNumber	String		Overtide	-					
	Comp	anyName	String		Overtide	1		10 C	and and all		
	temps		Integer String]]		Override Override	(	2 2		as created el g to retrieve		
		actAmount	Float		Override	0.0	1	Temp sum	giorenieve		
	return		Integer		Overtide	0.0			-		
	Mime		String		Overtide	-					
		iman/Form	String		Overtide	-		_			
	caseF	ields	String[]		Default	0					
			Boolean		Override	true	Ř.				
					Close Help	,				1	
	n Sector processo			1	Interviewed - Interviewed						
tion View Pal	ette: BPM	Palette		۲							
Component 🎯	. 0	General	Subn	nap 🎯	System						
						Isture	Processor				
						App	roval Launch H	ITML (FileNet)			•
msCaseMana	agement (Cl	hecked out: 2.0	1			- A	-			<u>• -</u>	• • :

35. This map acts as a "starter" workflow, which will then call the regular Case Management workflow after setting the MimeType value to "application/x-filenet-formdata". The values of these two properties, plus the InitiatingAttachment VWAttachment field (containing a reference to the new Form Data Document object itself in Content Engine), will then be transferred to the Case Management Workflow.



36. The Case Management Workflow includes a System step called "Update case with eForm" in the "Create Case" submap. This step will be executed if it is determined that the current Work Object was launched through the Content Engine Workflow Subscription on the Creation Event of a "Case Management Form" Content Engine Document instance.



37. This System Assignment Step will assign the Case Management Form document to the Bp8PrimaryForm Attachment field on the Work Item.

Address in http://pagkanee.0000/Workplace.operocess/Workplace Response for the page of th	🔋 Workplace: Process Designer - Microsoft Informet En	durra.		
Address in http://wykarsc.0000/Wardplace.logo.op/wardplace.logo.op	File Ealt West Pavorites Tools Help			1
Februard Account       Sectoral Case         Create       Case         StartStep       Case alroady Created?         Diana       Sectoral Case         Copy stackment       Sectoral Case         Create       Deby         Deby       Sectoral Case         Action       View Paketts         Sectoral Case       Sectoral Case         Create       Deby         Deby       Sectoral Case         Create       Deby         Deby       None         Create       Deby         Deby       None         Create       Deby         Deby       None         Create       Deby         Deby       Sectoral Case         Mathematic Case       None         Create       Deby         Deby       Deby         Sectoral Case       Deby         Sectoral Case       None         Rection       Sectoral         Sectoral Case       Deby         Sectoral Case	A DESCRIPTION OF A DESC	S Assign	a second s	
Parme Substruction Sector Create Case Component Concernant Concernant Case Component Concernant Case Component Concernant Case Component Concernant Concernation Concernati		Assumment Paraméters	9 1 ×	staturestation to the
Slussible Case akeasy. Created? [2] No eForms? (1) Y Close Help Close Help Create Case Create Case Component © Conceral © Submap © System				
Create Debacute Debay Invoke Action View Palettie Component Comp	StarStep Case alroady Croated? DIN0 EIN0 EForms? (1) W			Concentration and and
	Action View Palette: BPM Palette	•	Create DoExecute DoExecute DoExecute DoExecute Log Receive Receive Reply Refurn TermisateBranch	
Applet filenet, ww.apps.designer WeDesignerApplet started	eFormsCaseManagement_1 [Checked out 2.0]			and the second se
	Applet filenet. vvv. apps. designer. VA/DesignerApplet started	medican		Local intranet

Both process maps can be found in the BPF installation media in the following directory:

\misc\solutions\case\_management\config

The BPF Installation process will not add or transfer the **eFormsCaseManagement.pep**. It has to be manually added to the Content Engine and then transferred via Process Designer. Before adding the .pep file to the Content Engine, the default ObjectStore name needs to be modified to the site-specific ObjectStore name used in the BPF application in the three component steps; Create Case, Update Case and Attach Doc. You can use Process Designer or any XML editor to modify the ObjectStore name. The default ObjectStore name used in the **eFormsCaseManagement.pep** file is "**Bp8ObjectStore**".

**NOTE** The specifics of the preceding section apply only to the Case Management sample application. For custom implementations of this feature, the Workflow map(s) may be different, but should still support the configuration described above.

You have now completed the required steps for enabling your deployment of the eForm Case Creation Tool to function as designed in your environment. Please take a moment to test this functionality by launching the BPF Web Application and clicking on the BPF Create Case tool. You should see the Form Template come up, allowing you to enter form field values before selecting the Save button, creating and saving a new Form Data document in Content Engine and launching the Workflow to create a new BPF Case.

**NOTE** BPF\_Operations need to be running in BPM Process Task Manager's Component Manager in order for your new Case to be created and appear in the first Inbasket.

If you encounter any problems in the course of this test, please review the preceding portions of this document carefully before consulting support to see what you might have missed in the course of your configuration and deployment.

## **Content Engine Changes for eForms Integration**

#### Bp8PrimaryForm

The BPF Installation process imports a Content Engine manifest (ce\_base,xml) with the necessary custom object structure to support BPF applications. An additional case property has been added to this manifest to support eForms integration to BPF. It is a string type property called "Bp8PrimaryForm", and is found in the "Bp8Case" class. This property will hold the "vsId" (version\_series\_id) of the eForm associated with the Case.



**NOTE** Existing Case objects created before the introduction of eForms Integration to BPF will not have the Bp8PrimaryForm property. Users will not be able to attach/view eForms on these Case objects.

Create the Bp8PrimaryForm property in the Bp8Case subclass or verify that it was imported using the ce\_base.xml during the installation process.

#### **Form Document Class and Properties**

When implementing eForms, a Form Document Class is typically created to define the Form Data to be stored for each Form instance. When the eForm is to be used with BPF, it is important to define the properties of the Form with the same name as the properties of the BPF Case object. This is how BPF synchronizes the data between the eForm and the Case object.

The BPF Installation process imports a Content Engine manifest (ce\_cm,xml) with the necessary custom object structure to support the BPF Case Management sample application. This manifest contains a form document class called "Case Management Form" which is added under "Form Data" class when imported into Content Engine. It has all the same properties as the Case Management case object.

Image process graph       Image process graph         Tree       Image process graph         Image process graph       Image process graph	FileNet Enterprise Manager - [Enterprise Manager [p Console Window Help	Contract Proof and Proof to the			and a book on the second	Contraction of the second second	 
The state is a state of the			1. (A. ) and				aller 2
		C D C C C	8 dr 10				
Object Stores       The Social Display Control       Stores         Object Stores       Stores       Stores         Stores       Stores       Stores         Stores       Stores       Stores         Stores       Stores       Stores         Stores       Stores       Stores <td< th=""><th>Tree</th><th></th><th></th><th>Data Type</th><th>Created By</th><th>Create Date</th><th></th></td<>	Tree			Data Type	Created By	Create Date	
2 Can Resources	Cohect Stores     Cohect Stores     Cohect Stores     Cohect Stores     Cohect Stores     Cohect Store     Cohect Store	11 Bp8CaseID 15 Company N 15 Contrast A 16 DocEntrySt 11 Effective D	Bp8CaseID Company Contract A DocEntrySt Effective D	Integer String Floet Integer DateTime			
	56rvtrs						

Define a Form Data subclass and properties or verify that it was imported using the ce\_cm.xml during the installation process.

#### **Create a Content Engine Workflow Subscription**

Once your process map is transferred into the PE Isolated Region, you will need to configure a Content Engine Workflow Subscription for the "Creation Event" of the "Case Management Form" Content Engine Document class. The result is that when the eForm Case Creation Tool is executed and creates a new form in this document class, the subscription will launch the eformsCaseManagement workflow which creates a new BPF Case.

The Case Management sample application is designed to show you the steps involved in creating new cases from eForms. Custom solutions will vary in their particulars, but, in each case, the logic of the steps involved will be the same.

You can create a Workflow Subscription either through Enterprise Manager or through Workplace. The following verbiage and screenshots describe the process for Workplace only.

To create the required Content Engine (CE) Workflow Subscription for the Case Management sample application using Workplace, the following steps are required.

38. First, navigate to Workplace > Author > Advanced Tools and select Add Workflow Subscription.

🏄 Authoring - Microsoft In	iternet Explorer	
<u>File E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew F <u>a</u> vorite	es Iools Help	2
🔇 Back 👻 🕤 👻 😰	🏠 🔎 Search 👷 Favorites 🛛 🧔 🕶 💺 🔟 💌 🗒	
Address 🙆 http://hqdemo1:	9081/Workplace/WcmAuthor.jsp?eventName=SelectTab&nodeId=author_1	🗾 ラ Go 🛛 Links 🌺
FILENET		Help   Home   Preferences   Sign Out
	My Workplace   Tasks   Shortcuts   Browse   Search Author	Admin
<ul> <li>My Workplace</li> <li>Tasks</li> <li>Shortcuts</li> <li>Browse         <ul> <li>Bp8ObjectStore</li> <li>Search</li> <li>Author</li></ul></li></ul>	Add Entry Template  Add Entry Template  Creates and modifies entry templates that can be used to add a new do specify a Workflow to launch when the object is added.  Add Form Policy  Modify Existing	cument, folder, or custom object. The entry template can also
D Admin	Creates and modifies form policy specifications. The form policy specifications. The form policy specifications. The form policy specifications fields.  Add Workflow Subscription  Modify Existing  Delete Creates, modifies, or deletes workflow subscriptions that a Workplace us be based on a document, folder or custom object class description.  Add Security Policy	ser can use to launch workflows. The workflow subscription can
iavascript:createNewWindo	ow('http://hqdemo1:9081/Workplace/wizards/WcmWorkflowSubscription.jsp?wind	lowIdMode=CR 💽 🛛 🎯 Internet 🎢

39. At "1. Select Target ", choose the Object Store and subclass of the "Form Data" Document class whose "Creation Event" you want to trigger your Workflow.

http://hqdemo1:9081 - We	orkplace: Workflow Subscription Wizard - Microsoft Internet Explorer	_ 🗆
dministrator   Tuesday, April 3,	2007	Help   Close
	Add Workflow Subscription	
Steps 1. Select Target 2. Select Workflow 3. Set Properties 4. Set Expression 5. Set Property Map 6. Set Security	Path: Object Stores > Bp8ObjectStore > Document > Form Data > Case Management Form	
Summary: Object Store: <i>BpBObjectSto</i> Target: <i>Case Management I</i>		Next
Workflow: <i>(Not Selected)</i>		Cancel
oyright © 2002, 2006 FileNet Corp Done	ooration. All rights reserved.	t

40. At "2. Select Workflow", select the new "eFormsCaseManagement" Workflow.

🚰 http://hqdemo1:9081 - Wo	orkplace: Workflow Subscription Wizard - Microsoft Internet Explorer	
Administrator   Tuesday, April 3,	2007	Help   Close
	Add Workflow Subscription	
Steps       1. Select Target       2. Select Workflow       3. Set Properties       4. Set Expression	Selected Workflow: 📓 <i>eformsCaseManagement (Version 3.0)</i> 🟮	
5. Set Property Map 6. Set Security Summary:		
Object Store: BpBObjectStor Target: Case Management F		Previous Next
Workflow: eformsCaseMana	gement	Cancel
Copyright © 2002, 2006 FileNet Corp	ooration. All rights reserved.	🗾 🙍 Internet

41. At "3. Set Properties > Subscribed Events", add "Creation Event" and set "Enable Manual Launch" to "Yes" or "No" as desired (neither setting will affect normal use of this Subscription).

🏄 http://hqdemo1:9081 - W	/orkplace: Workflow Subs	cription Wizard - Microsoft Internet Explorer	
Administrator   Tuesday, April 3	3, 2007		Help   Close
	Add Workflow Subscrip	tion	
Steps       Steps       1. Select Target       2. Select Workflow       3. Set Properties	Subscription Target: Cas	<b>e Management Form</b> Properties	
4. Set Expression	Property	Value	
5. Set Property Map 6. Set Security	* Name:	eFormsCaseManagementSubs	
<u>o, oc ocony</u>	Description:	×	
	Include Subclasses:	Include Subclasses	
	Initial State:	✓ Enabled	
	Enable Manual Launch	: Yes 💌	
	Subscribed Events:	"Creation Event";	
Summary:			
Object Store: Bp8ObjectSto			Previous Next
Target: Case Management			Cancel
Workflow: eformsCaseMan	agement		Cuncer
Copyright © 2002, 2006 FileNet Cor	an analise All sinks and		
Copyright (9 2002, 2006 FileNet Cor	rporation. All rights reserved.		🕐 Internet

42. At "4. Set Expression", use the Event Expression builder to specify the condition DocEntryStatus=1.

**NOTE** Due to an issue with Content Engine itself, this filter condition is required to avoid launching the Workflow each time a "Case Management Form" instance is checked in.

ministrator   Tuesday, April	3, 2007	Help   Close
	Add Workflow Subscription	
Steps <ul> <li><u>1. Select Target</u></li> </ul>	Subscription Target: Case Management Form	
<ul> <li><u>2. Select Workflow</u></li> <li><u>3. Set Properties</u></li> </ul>	Event expression builder	
4. Set Expression     5. Set Property Map     6. Set Security	DocEntryStatus (Integer)	▼ 6
<u>o, berbelanty</u>	and or ( ) not	
	Event expression:	
	DocEntryStatus=1	
	-	
Summary:		
Object Store: BpBObjectS	tore	Previous Next
	t Form	
Target: Case Managemen		
Target: <i>Case Managemen</i> Workflow: <i>eformsCaseMa</i>	nagement	Cancel
Workflow: eformsCaseMa	nagement orporation. All rights reserved.	Cancel

43. At "5. Set Property Map", map the "eFormsCaseManagement" Workflow fields to the "Case Management Form" Document class fields (AccountNumber, ContractAmount, ReceivedDate, Priority, and CompanyName).

🖉 http://hqdemo1:9081 - Wo	rkplace: Workflow Subscription Wizard - Microsoft Int	ernet Explorer	
Administrator   Tuesday, April 3,	2007		Help   Close
	Add Workflow Subscription		
Steps       I. Select Target	Subscription Target: Case Management Form		
<ul> <li><u>2. Select Workflow</u></li> <li><u>3. Set Properties</u></li> </ul>	Data Field Name	Property Name	
<ul> <li><u>4. Set Expression</u></li> <li><u>5. Set Property Map</u></li> </ul>	CompanyName (String)	= Company Name (String)	đ
<u>6. Set Security</u>		Property Map AccountNumber=AccountNumber ContractArnount=ContractArnount ReceivedDate=ReceivedDate CompanyName=CompanyName	•
Summary:			
Object Store: BpBObjectStore	e	Previ	ous Next
Target: Case Management Fo			Cancel
Workflow: eformsCaseManag			Cancel
Copyright © 2002, 2006 FileNet Corp	oration. All rights reserved.		<b>v</b>
E Done		🔹 🚺 🔮 Inter	rnet //

44. At "6. Set Security ", apply the appropriate security settings and then click Finish.

http://hqdemo1:9081 - W	orkplace: Workflow Subscription Wizard - Microsoft 1	Internet Explorer			
dministrator   Tuesday, April 3	, 2007				Help   Close
	Add Workflow Subscription				
Steps           Steps           1. Select Target           2. Select Workflow	Title	Owner Control	Modify Props	View Props	Remove
<ul> <li><u>3. Set Properties</u></li> <li><u>4. Set Expression</u></li> </ul>	Administrator	1	1	1	
<ul> <li><u>5. Set Property Map</u></li> <li><u>6. Set Security</u></li> <li>Summary:</li> </ul>					Add New
Object Store: BpBObjectSto Target: Case Management (				Previous	Finish
Workflow: eformsCaseMana					Cancel
yright © 2002, 2006 FileNet Cor	poration. All rights reserved.				
Done				🕜 Interne	t

You have now successfully created the Content Engine Workflow Subscription required to launch a Workflow to create a new BPF Case whenever the eForm Case Creation Tool is used to create a new instance of the "Case Management Form" Content Engine Document class.

## **Modifying Form Template**

Users may modify the existing Case.itx Form Template as per project requirements by completing the following sections below.

#### **Updating Form Template P8 Workplace**

Step 1. The existing Form Template can be modified using eForms Designer. To do this, download the Form Template to be modified from Workplace and open it using eForms Designer. Perform form modifications.

Step 2. After modifying the Form Template Policy check it back into the Content Engine using Workplace.

#### **Updating Form Policy in P8 Workplace**

Step 3. After the Form Template is modified and checked in, the version of the Form Template will be updated. Because of this, we will need to modify the Form Policy attached to the Form Template to use the correct version. This can be accomplished by performing the following the steps below:

- 45. Go to Workplace > Author > Advanced Tools
- 46. Under "Add Form Policy" click "Modify Existing"
- 47. Select "Document Policy"
- 48. Browse to the Form Policy you want to change and select that Form Policy.
- 49. At "1. Select Form Template", browse to the modified Form Template. Click on "Select Current" to select the current version of the Form Template.
- 50. Click "Finish".

#### **Updating BPF Application**

Anytime the Form Template is updated, you must update the the Form Template ID which will be accessed in the BPF application when the eForm Case Creation tool is launched.

Refer to the section in this document entitled *Configuring the Access Method of the eForm Case Creation Tool* which describes how to set the Form Template ID based on access method.

## **Summary of BPF/eForms Configuration**

The following is a summary of the necessary steps involved in configuring eForms Integration to BPF. Use this as a quick check point for troubleshooting your eForms configuration. Detailed documentation of each step is covered under different sections in this document above.

- Verify eForms functionality with Workplace application alone. Opening, closing, saving, and PDF generation of eForms should already be functional within the Workplace application.
- Verify that BPF/eForms workflow (eFormsCaseManagement.pep) is transferred to the isolated region after verifying that it references the correct ObjectStore name.
- Verify that the necessary eForms configuration files (eforms-functions.xml and eformsintegration.xml) are present in the BPF configuration directory.
- Verify that the metastore type that you are using for the BPF Application has been configured in the BPF Operation configuration file. (Bp8\_config.xml)
- Verify that the event subscription for the Form Document Class (Case Management Form) has been set to auto-launch and is working properly.
- Verify that Bp8ViewActions.jsp is present inside the Workplace folder. This step is the part of the BPF installation.

- Verify the workflow subscription on "Case Management Form" class is working properly.
- Verify <bpf-app>/WEB-INF/toolbar.xml for correct eForm template object\_id and version\_series\_id.
- Using BPF Explorer, verify that the eForms tab is exposed on required Inbasket Configurations.
- Verify that following steps were performed in the following order:
  - Add Form Template
  - o Add Entry Template
  - Add a Form Policy

## **Notices**

This information was developed for products and services offered in the U.S.A.

IBM may not offer the products, services, or features discussed in this document in other countries. Consult your local IBM representative for information on the products and services currently available in your area. Any reference to an IBM product, program, or service is not intended to state or imply that only that IBM product, program, or service may be used. Any functionally equivalent product, program, or service that does not infringe any IBM intellectual property right may be used instead. However, it is the user's responsibility to evaluate and verify the operation of any non-IBM product, program, or service.

IBM may have patents or pending patent applications covering subject matter described in this document. The furnishing of this document does not grant you any license to these patents. You can send license inquiries, in writing, to:

IBM Director of Licensing IBM Corporation North Castle Drive Armonk, NY 10504-1785 U.S.A.

For license inquiries regarding double-byte (DBCS) information, contact the IBM Intellectual Property Department in your country or send inquiries, in writing, to:

IBM World Trade Asia Corporation Licensing 2-31 Roppongi 3-chome, Minato-ku Tokyo 106-0032, Japan

The following paragraph does not apply to the United Kingdom or any other country where such provisions are inconsistent with local law: INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS MACHINES CORPORATION PROVIDES THIS PUBLICATION "AS IS" WITHOUT WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF NON-INFRINGEMENT, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. Some states do not allow disclaimer of express or implied warranties in certain transactions, therefore, this statement may not apply to you.

This information could include technical inaccuracies or typographical errors. Changes are periodically made to the information herein; these changes will be incorporated in new editions of the publication. IBM may make improvements and/or changes in the product(s) and/or the program(s) described in this publication at any time without notice.

Any references in this information to non-IBM Web sites are provided for convenience only and do not in any manner serve as an endorsement of those Web sites. The materials at those Web sites are not part of the materials for this IBM product and use of those Web sites is at your own risk.

IBM may use or distribute any of the information you supply in any way it believes appropriate without incurring any obligation to you.

Licensees of this program who wish to have information about it for the purpose of enabling: (i) the exchange of information between independently created programs and other programs (including this one) and (ii) the mutual use of the information which has been exchanged, should contact:

IBM Corporation J46A/G4 555 Bailey Avenue San Jose, CA 95141-1003 U.S.A.

Such information may be available, subject to appropriate terms and conditions, including in some cases, payment of a fee.

The licensed program described in this document and all licensed material available for it are provided by IBM under terms of the IBM Customer Agreement, IBM International Program License Agreement or any equivalent agreement between us.

Any performance data contained herein was determined in a controlled environment. Therefore, the results obtained in other operating environments may vary significantly. Some measurements may have been made on development-level systems and there is no guarantee that these measurements will be the same on generally available systems. Furthermore, some measurements may have been estimated through extrapolation. Actual results may vary. Users of this document should verify the applicable data for their specific environment.

Information concerning non-IBM products was obtained from the suppliers of those products, their published announcements or other publicly available sources. IBM has not tested those products and cannot confirm the accuracy of performance, compatibility or any other claims related to non-IBM products. Questions on the capabilities of non-IBM products should be addressed to the suppliers of those products.

All statements regarding IBM's future direction or intent are subject to change or withdrawal without notice, and represent goals and objectives only.

This information contains examples of data and reports used in daily business operations. To illustrate them as completely as possible, the examples include the names of individuals, companies, brands, and products. All of these names are fictitious and any similarity to the names and addresses used by an actual business enterprise is entirely coincidental.

#### COPYRIGHT LICENSE:

This information contains sample application programs in source language, which illustrate programming techniques on various operating platforms. You may copy, modify, and distribute these sample programs in any form without payment to IBM, for the purposes of developing, using, marketing or distributing application programs conforming to the application programming interface for the operating platform for which the sample programs are written. These examples have not been thoroughly tested under all conditions. IBM, therefore, cannot guarantee or imply reliability, serviceability, or function of these programs.

#### **Trademarks**

IBM is a registered trademark of International Business Machines Corporation in the United States, other countries, or both.

FileNet is a registered trademark of FileNet Corporation, in the United States, other countries, or both.

Java and all Java-based trademarks are trademarks of Sun Microsystems, Inc. in the United States, other countries, or both.

Other company, product, and service names may be trademarks or service marks of others.

# IBM.®

Program Number: 5724-R75

Printed in USA

GC31-5526-00

